ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE STATE AFFAI RS STANDI NG COW TTEE
January 19, 2008
11:10 a. m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Bob Lynn, Chair
Represent ati ve Bob Roses, Vice Chair
Representati ve John Coghill
Representati ve Kyl e Johansen
Representative Craig Johnson
Represent ati ve Andrea Dol

MEMBERS ABSENT

Representati ve Max G uenberg
OTHER LEGQ SLATORS PRESENT
Representati ve Anna Faircl ough
COW TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE Bl LL NO. 296
"An Act extending the termnation date of the Board of Parole
and providing for an effective date.”

- MOVED HB 296 OUT OF COW TTEE

HOUSE Bl LL NO. 281

"An Act extending the statute of limtations for the filing of
conmplaints with the Alaska Public Ofices Conmm ssion involving
state el ection canpaigns.”

- MOVED CSHB 281( STA) OUT OF COWM TTEE

HOUSE BI LL NO. 260

"An Act relating to a State O ficers Conpensation Conmm ssion and
establishing how |legislators, the governor, the |ieutenant
governor, and executive departnment heads shall be conpensated;
providing for an effective date by repealing the effective dates
of certain sections of ch. 124, SLA 1986; and providing for an
effective date.”

- MOVED CSHB 260( STA) OUT OF COW TTEE-

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -1- January 19, 2008



HOUSE BI LL NO. 269

"An Act requiring the state to procure United States and Al aska
flags manufactured in the United States; and requiring state
buil di ngs and schools to display only United States and Al aska
flags manufactured in the United States."”

- BILL HEARI NG POSTPONED TO 1/ 24/ 08
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 296

SHORT TI TLE. EXTENDI NG BOARD OF PAROLE
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) LYNN

01/04/08 (H PREFILE RELEASED 1/ 4/ 08

01/15/08 (H READ THE FIRST Tl ME - REFERRALS
01/15/08 (H STA FIN

01/17/08 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

01/17/08 (H) <Bill Hearing Postponed to 01/19/08>
01/19/08 (H STA AT 11:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

BILL: HB 281
SHORT TI TLE: CAMPAI GN FI NANCE COWPLAI NTS
SPONSOR(s) : REPRESENTATI VE(s) LYNN, GATTO

01/04/08 (H) PREFILE RELEASED 1/ 4/08
01/15/08 (H READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
01/15/08 (H STA, JUD

01/17/08 (H STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106
01/17/08 (H Heard & Held

01/17/08 (H M NUTE(STA)

01/19/08 (H STA AT 11:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

Bl LL: HB 260
SHORT TITLE: STATE OFFI CERS COVPENSATI ON COMM SSI ON
SPONSOR('s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) DOOGAN

05/15/07 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
05/15/07 (H STA FIN

01/17/08 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106
01/17/08 (H) Heard & Held

01/17/08 (H M NUTE(STA)

01/19/08 (H) STA AT 11:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

W TNESS REG STER

M CHAEL STARK, Vice Chair

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -2- January 19, 2008



Par ol e Board

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Introduced HB 296 on behalf of
Representative Bob Lynn, sponsor.

ED RAI'S, Chair

Par ol e Board

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Answer ed questions during the hearing on HB
296.

KATHY MATSUMOTO, Executive Director

Par ol e Board

Departnent of Corrections

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Provided information during the hearing on
HB 296.

DWAYNE PEEPLES, Deputy Commi ssioner

Departnent of Corrections

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered a question related to the fiscal
note during the hearing on HB 296.

M CHAEL SI CA, Staff

Representative Bob Lynn

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented the sectional analysis for the
commttee substitute (CS) for HB 281, Version 25-LS1115\M
Bul  ard, 1/18/08.

BROOK M LES, Executive Director

Al aska Public Ofices Conm ssion (APQC)

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on HB 281.

JOYCE ANDERSON, Admi nistrator

Select Commttee on Legislative Ethics

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on HB 281.

JANET DeYOUNG Chief Assistant Attorney GCeneral - Statew de
Section Supervisor

Labor and State Affairs Section

Cvil Division (Anchorage)

Departnment of Law (DCL)

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 3- January 19, 2008



PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Provided the definition of "person” as it
appears in Al aska Statute, during the hearing on HB 281.

REPRESENTATI VE M KE DOOGAN

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified as sponsor of HB 260.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

CHAIR BOB LYNN called the House State Affairs Standing Conmttee
neeting to order at 11:10:13 AM Representatives Roses,
Coghi I I, Johansen, Johnson, Doll, and Lynn were present at the
call to order.

HB 296- EXTENDI NG BOARD OF PAROLE

11:10: 46 AM

CHAI R LYNN announced the first order of business was HOUSE BILL
NO. 296, "An Act extending the term nation date of the Board of
Parol e; and providing for an effective date."

11:11: 31 AM

M CHAEL STARK, Vice Chair, Parole Board, introduced HB 296 on
behal f of Representative Bob Lynn, sponsor. He noted that he
had worked in the Ofice of the Attorney General for 20 years
prior to his seven years on the board. He stated that the

proposed |l egislation wuld extend the Iife of the Parole Board,
which is set to sunset at the end of fiscal year 2008 (FY 08).

MR. STARK directed attention to the Parole Board' s statistical
report for calendar years 1996-2007 [included in the commttee
packet], which shows all the responsibilities that keep the
board busy. He said the board conducts hundreds of hearings
each year, during which it considers early release of persons
who have denonstrated that they are a "safe risk to be rel eased
into the comunity." He indicated that a mjority of the
heari ngs are focused on the issue of parole revocation, wherein
the parole board nmust decide whether to deal with the parolee
t hrough internediate sanctions, issue a warning, or put himher
back in prison and require program participation.

11:13: 42 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -4- January 19, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE DOLL stated that the Parole Board is an inportant
link in the corrections system She directed attention to the
audit report, dated August 28, 2007, [included in the commttee
packet], and asked for coment from the board regarding two
recommendations found in the audit [on page 7], which read as
follows [original punctuation provided]:

The Board of Par ol e shoul d i ncrease public
accessibility to, and accountability for, its
adm ni strative actions and operati ons.

The Board of Parole should hold a general session
neeting, open to the public, at |east once a year.

11:14: 25 AM

ED RAIS, Chair, Parole Board, replied that in response to
reading those recommendations, the board wll be advertising
[its hearings] in local newspapers in Juneau, Fairbanks, and
Anchor age. He offered his understanding that in the past, only
one or two people have had questions of the board.

11:15: 32 AM
MR. STARK, in response to Representative Doll, said the Parole
Board will be scheduling its statew de tel econference for public

participation in July.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL, citing another entry on page 7 of the

af orenentioned audit, read, "... since 2001, the board has not
formally issued a statistical report summarizing how effective
the board has been at achieving operating objectives.” She

commented that that is a long tine between reports.

MR. STARK referred again to the statistical report covering the

period of 1996 to 2007. He stated, "In fact, the board has
produced annual statistics denonstrating what the board has
acconplished each year. However, due to sonme budget
constraints, they stopped publishing a formal report.” He said
information has been made available on the web site. He
clarified, "It was the actual formal publishing that was
| acki ng, not the production of the statistics." |In response to
a followup question from Representative Doll, he said the

| egislature fully funded the board this fiscal year.

11:17:48 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -5- January 19, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE  JOHANSEN nentioned that he had questions
regarding a handout in the commttee packet fromthe Division of
Probation & Parole's "Goals and (bjectives," but that he would
wait to get clarification.

11:18: 35 AM

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES asked how nmany of the 497 full board
heari ngs conducted in 2007 were full-day sessions as opposed to
hal f - day sessi ons.

MR. STARK replied that the board typically hears 8 to 13
hearings in a day, and each hearing is allotted between 30
mnutes to one hour. In response to a followup coment from
Representative Roses, he clarified that nost of the days the
board neets are full days. He added, "So, you have to divide
that 497 by that nunber to figure out roughly how many days
there were of full conpensation for hearings alone." He noted
that the statistics reflect that the board serves other
functions, too.

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES told M. Stark that it would be helpful to
the conmittee if the board would submit the nunber of full days
and half day neetings to acconpany the fiscal note to facilitate
translation of the information in order to decide whether or not
the fiscal note is in line.

MR. STARK noted that the conpensation for board nenbers is a
relatively mnor expense in the board's budget. There are five
staff persons who work full-tine.

KATHY MATSUMOTO, Executive Director, Parole Board, Departnent of
Corrections, acknowl edged Representative Roses' request to see a
list of the nunber of full and half days that the board neets.
In response to that request, she explained that she cannot
recollect any half days scheduled in addition to the five full
days of hearings that the board schedules on its cal endar each
nont h. She noted that additionally, individual board nenbers
provide prelimnary hearings. She said, "That also adds to the
cost in ternms of conpensation.”

11: 21: 33 AM

MR. REIS reported that during cal endar year 2007, he personally
conducted 172 prelimnary hearings in Anchorage. He offered his
understanding that the other Parole Board nenber, Charles Mses
(ph), conducted al nost 190 prelim nary hearings, while M. Stark

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 6- January 19, 2008



conducted 124 prelimnary hearings. He said [conducting
prelimnary hearings] conprises a ngjority of the board nenbers’
wor K. He noted that board nenbers work out of their hones and
are conpensated $16 per each file read. He said he believes the
board as a whol e signed over 500 parole warrants | ast year.

M5. MATSUMOTO confirnmed that statistic.
MR, REIS added that many board nenbers are also required to
speak before the public, and they work in conjunction with the

departnment to discuss , for exanple, the budget and pl anni ng.

11:23:13 AM

CHAIR LYNN stated the need for this information to be supplied
to the House Finance Comm ttee.

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES concurr ed. He clarified that he does not
t hi nk anyone believes the parole board is not putting in |lots of
time; the information is needed sinply in order to balance
fi nances.

11: 23: 39 AM

MR, REIS said the commttee should also be nmade aware that in
addition to parole, the board is al so responsible for clenency.

M5. MATSUMOTO inserted that the board nenbers are responsible
for conducting final board hearings, prelimnary hearings,

signing warrants, readi ng packets, and studying parole
conditions; however, "it falls on board staff in terns of
responsibility for clenency.” She clarified, "The board doesn't

have any inpact on that work; that's strictly assigned to board
staff."

MR. REIS said his point is that it wll take a lot of board
staff tinme to conduct the business of the state in that area.

11: 24: 33 AM

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES asked the sponsor why he chose 2016 as the
next sunset date. He asked if eight years was a deliberate tine
frane.

11: 24: 49 AM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -7- January 19, 2008



CHAI R LYNN indicated that choosing that date had to do with the
audi t.

MR. STARK added that the last tinme the legislature extended the
Parol e Board, they did so for an eight-year period.

11:25: 04 AM

MR, STARK, in response to a question from Representative
Johansen, reiterated the board's plan to make an annual neeti ng
avai l able to the public.

11:26: 47 AM

M5. MATSUMOTO, in response to a question from Representative
Dol |l regarding past fiscal notes, reported the Parole Board's
past budgets as follows: $481, 200 allocated and $612,424
expended in FY 03; $530,400 in FY 04; and $524,000 all ocated,
with a suppl enental of $65,000 in FY 05.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL observed that the board has been spending an
average of $600,000 [a year]; therefore, it is looking for an
addi tional $169,000 this year.

MR. STARK offered his understanding that the board is "l ooking
at a nmaintenance budget for this conmng year,” and that the
anount in the current fiscal note is the anount that was
appropriated | ast year.

M5. MATSUMOTO responded that she thinks there was an increase.

11:28:41 AM

MR REI S not ed:

One of the issues per board conpensation nenbers was

never budget ed. | believe per day it was $150 per
board nenber. That had not been changed since 1984
Wen | becane the chair under the  Mur kowski
Adm ni stration, Governor Mirkowski signed a bill that
all owed each board nenber, on a full day of
conpensation, to receive $250 dollars per day. That
was never offset in our budget until [|ast year. Ve
asked for $794,000, and | believe that we were
appropriated ... $736, 000.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 8- January 19, 2008



W also have - due to retirenent benefits ... for

enpl oyees to the board -- as the commttee all knows,
those costs have all gone up. And that was our
request there to fund all those positions. And the
board ... for years has been funded for two ... Parole
Oficer 11l positions, and for alnost two and half
years we did not have one of those positions filled
because our budget was restricting ... [filling] that
posi tion.

CHAI R LYNN noted that the fiscal note anal ysis read:

Passage of this legislation should have no fiscal
i npact on the Departnent of Corrections.

CHAIR LYNN said the issue at hand is whether or not to extend
the Parole Board, and he stated that he does not want to do too
much of the House Finance Committee's work for them

MR. REIS assured the conmmttee that the board nenbers wll be
willing to go through the board' s budget line by line with the
House Finance Commttee. In closing, he stated that he thinks

the eight-year off-set for the budget is a good thing, because a
sunset audit of the board yearly would be a waste of state
resour ces. He said he understands the inportance of outside
perception and having an annual open neeting for the public, as
is mandated in statute; however, as M. Stark previously noted,
the board is not fully funded to do a lot of the work as is
required by statute. In response to a question from
Representati ve Johnson, he said he has not heard from the deputy
comm ssioner regarding allocations to the board this year.

11: 32: 22 AM

DWAYNE PEEPLES, Deputy Conm ssioner, Departnent of Corrections,
in response to a question from Representative Johnson, noted
that the fiscal note has been nodified. He explained:

The nunber being reflected for [FY] 09 on the note

page, first colum - appropriation required - is the
base in the governor's request FY 09. The second
colum in the fiscal note, where you see FY 09 again,
woul d be additional nonies required to inplenent. The
base is $769.1 thousand in the current governor's
budget request. By passage of the sunset l|law, there

[are] no additional funds required.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -9- January 19, 2008



11: 33: 08 AM

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES noved to report HB 296 out of committee
with individual recomendations and the acconpanying fiscal
notes. There being no objection, HB 296 was reported out of the
House State Affairs Standing Conm tt ee.

The commttee took an at-ease from11:34 a.m to 11:35 a. m

[Due to technical difficulties the recording did not start until
11: 43 a. m]

HB 281- CAMPAI GN FI NANCE COWVPLAI NTS

CHAI R LYNN announced the next order of business was HOUSE BI LL
NO. 281, "An Act extending the statute of limtations for the
filing of conplaints wth the Al aska Public Ofices Conm ssion
i nvolving state el ection canpaigns.”

11:43: 10 AM

M CHAEL SICA, Staff, Representative Bob Lynn, Alaska State
Legi slature, presented the sectional analysis for the comittee
substitute (CS) for HB 281, Version 25-1LS1115\M Bull ard,
1/ 18/ 08 [not yet before the commttee].

MR. SICA said Section 1 would establish in code a retention
period of six years for records of transactions listed in this
secti on. Section 2, he said would add a new section, AS
15.13.042, nmandating that each candidate, group, nongroup
entity, or person required to report under this chapter preserve
all necessary records for six years. Section 3 would anend AS
15.13.380(b), increasing the statute of limtations for filing a
conplaint for an alleged canpaign finance violation from one
year to five years. M. Sica said a sentence [from AS 24.60.170
- Legislative Ethics Law] was added, which read: "The tine
[imtations of this subsection do not bar proceedi ngs against a
person who intentionally prevents discovery of a violation of
this chapter."”

11:46: 43 AM

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL indicated that she needed a mnute to read a
menor andum she had just received.

CHAI R LYNN requested a notion to adopt the commttee substitute.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 10- January 19, 2008



11:47: 20 AM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL noved to adopt the commttee substitute
(CS) for HB 281, Version 25-LS1115\M Bullard, 1/18/08, as a
work draft.

11:47: 43 AM

CHAI R LYNN obj ect ed.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL explained that the nmenorandum is from
Representative G uenberg, asking the comrittee to consider
anendi ng the sentence to read: "The tinme limtations of this
subsection do not bar proceedings against a person who the
comm ssion finds willfully prevents the discovery of a violation
of this chapter. Such a finding by the conm ssioner nust be
based on cl ear and convinci ng evi dence."

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL stated t hat "intentionally" and
"W llfully" are standards that the comttee my wsh to
consi der; however, the issue will be subject to review in the

House Judiciary Standing Comm ttee.

CHAIR LYNN noted that he, Representative Coghill, and
Representative G uenberg serve together on the House Judiciary
Standi ng Comittee. He indicated that the issue would be dealt
with in that conmttee.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL said that is acceptable.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL suggested that the commttee decide which

version of the bill is before them

11:49: 40 AM

CHAIR LYNN renoved his objection. There being no further
obj ection, Version Mwas before the conmttee as a work draft.

11: 50: 16 AM

MR. SICA returned to his review of the sectional analysis. He

stated that Section 4 pertains to [AS 24.45.111(a)], which
already requires that a |obbyist retain records required under
this section, and would add to that requirenent: an enployer, a
retainer, or a contractor of a |obbyist. The section would also
increase the retention period [from one year] to six years.
Section 5, he said, [anmends AS 24.45.131] to allow any person,

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -11- January 19, 2008



not just a qualified voter, to file a conplaint wth the
commi ssi on.

11:51: 08 AM

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES asked if the sponsor really neans "any
person,"” because that could include, for exanple, a nonresident
visiting Alaska on a fishing trip or a head of a political party
based in Wshington, D.C He said it would be nice if the
person were at least a citizen of the U S

11:52: 05 AM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL warned that the legal definition of
"person” can include corporation or trust.

CHAI R LYNN suggested the conmttee consider specifying that the
person be a resident of Al aska.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHILL said the commttee should probably have

that discussion. He asked if the intent of the bill sponsor was
to review the bill today, because he sees many places in the
bill that may require significant discussion. In response to a
guestion from Chair Lynn, he said he would like to hear the

entire sectional analysis before offering anendnents.

MR. SICA continued to Section 6, which he said would add a new
section, AS 24.45.131(d), which would prohibit conm ssion
nmenbers and staff who file conplaints from participating in any

commi ssion proceeding related to the conplaint. Section 7, he
noted, would add AS 24.45.135, allowing "a person” - as well as
a comm ssion nenber or staff - to file a conplaint [alleging a
violation of AS 24.45.121-24.45.171 has occurred or IS
occurring]. Section 8 would anend AS 24.60.170(a), i ncreasing
the tine limtation on conplaints alleging a violation of this
section from two years to five years. Furthernore, Section 8
would increase the tinme Ilimtation for investigation of

conplaints against a former legislator from one year to five
years.

MR. SICA noted that Section 9 would add AS 24.60.255, which
would allow a person, as well as a nenber of the Alaska Public
Ofice Conmission (APOC) or a nmenber of its staff to file a
witten conplaint alleging a violation of [AS 24.60.200-
24.60. 260] has occurred or is occurring. The conplaint nmust be
filed within five years after the date of the alleged violation.
Section 10, he said, adds a new section, AS 39.50.055, which

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -12- January 19, 2008



woul d allow a person, as well as a nenber of APOC or APQCC staff,
to file a witten conplaint alleging a violation of this chapter
has occurred or is occurring. Li ke Section 9, Section 10 woul d
require the conplaint to be filed with five years after the date
of the alleged violation. It also would not allow an APCC
menber or APOC staff who files a conplaint to participate in any
proceedi ng of the conm ssion related to the departnent.

11:56: 15 AM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL asked for confirmation that Title 24
addresses legislative issues, while Title 39 deals wth
adm ni strative issues.

CHAI R LYNN said he believes that is correct.
MR SICA said, "Public officials." He continued with his review

of the sectional analysis. He said whereas Section 10 has to do
with a conplaint filed to APOC, Section 11 involves public

officials with a conplaint filed in court; it would allow a
person, not just a qualified voter, to bring a civil action to
enforce any of the sections of this chapter. Section 12 would
anmend AS 39.50.100, relating to public officials, and would
create a statute of limtations of five years from the date of
the alleged violation for a conplaint to be filed under this
section. M. Sica offered his understanding that "the code is
currently silent on that,” and the sponsor is |ooking for

consi stency through Titles 15, 24, and 39.

MR SICA said Section 13 would establish an effective date for
the sections that have been anended and created in this act. He

stated, "I think all that language in there is an attenpt to
capture the current investigations allowable under the existing
code, while avoiding retroactivity on these sections. | don't
know if it acconplishes that, but | think that's what we're
| ooking at." Sections 14-16, he observed, "just Ilook Iike

boil er plate statenents to ne."

11:58: 15 AM

BROOK M LES, Executive Director, Alaska Public Ofices
Comm ssion (APCC), thanked the commttee for considering the
request of APOCC that the five-year statute of limtations be
expanded to all four disclosure laws admnistered by the
comm ssi on. The applicable statutes she listed as: AS 15.13,
canpai gn disclosure law, AS 24.45, |obbying law, AS 24.60.200-
260, including the Legislative Ethics Act - the financial

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 13- January 19, 2008



disclosure that is filed by nenbers of the |legislature, the
public menbers on the Select Committee on Legislative Ethics,
and the legislative directors that work within the Legislative
Affairs Agency; and AS 39.50, executive branch financia

di scl osure. She also thanked the bill sponsor for including the
same statute of limtations across all of those codes, as well
as including a six-year retention of records, codified within
each statute. Having that records retention requirement in |aw
wi |l aide APOC in searching through records further in the past.

M5. MLES, regarding the concern over changing qualified "voter™
to "person," stated:

It was only in the I|obbying law, where the free
conference conmittee ... wote this law in 1976 had
the words that you had to be a qualified voter
Today, if a foreign natural visiting Al aska cane into
our office and filed a conplaint under the canpaign
di sclosure law ... this agency may have to accept it,
because wunder that law, it's always been [that] a
person could file.

12: 02: 31 PM

JOYCE ANDERSON, Adm nistrator, Select Committee on Legislative
Ethics, said she concurs with Ms. Mles' remarks about making

APCC s statute of |limtations the same and changing the statute
of limtations within the Legislative Ethics Code fromtw years
to five years for filing a conplaint, in order to make it

consi stent across the board, since both APOC and the Select
Comm ttee on Legislative Ethics work cl osely together.

M5. ANDERSON rel ated that she had spoken with M. Sica about a
change to AS 24.60.170(a). She directed attention to page 4, of
Version M to a sentence beginning on line 7, which read:

However, the commttee nmy reinstitute proceedings
concerning a conplaint that was closed because a
former enployee termnated |egislative service or
because a legislator left the legislature if the
former enployee or legislator resunes |egislative
service, whether as an enployee or a |egislator,
within five [TWJ years after the alleged violation.

VS ANDERSON explained that because the proposed |anguage

increases the statute of limtations fromtw to five years and
the statute of Ilimtations is already five years for a

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -14- January 19, 2008



| egislator, she thinks it is redundant to include "or because a
| egislator left the legislature” and "or legislator” within the
proposed sentence.

12: 05: 31 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL noved Anmendnent 1 to Version M as
foll ows:

On page 4, line 9, follow ng "service":
Delete "or because a legislator | eft t he
| egi sl at ure”

On page 4, line 10, follow ng "enpl oyee":
Delete "or |egislator™

There being no objection, Arendnent 1 was adopt ed.

12: 06: 28 PM

M5. ANDERSON asked the commttee to consider that once a
| egislator |eaves office, there is very Ilittle left in the
sanction code to inpose any kind of sanction upon a |egislator
who is out of office. She offered an exanple of a fornmer

| egislator who failed to file his final disclosures that were
due at the Ethics Ofice and was fined $200. Wen he refused to
pay, the Select Commttee on Legislative Ethics referred the
case to the Ofice of the Attorney General; however, that office

does not follow up on fines unless they are over $500. She
guesti oned whether this issue could affect APOC in terns of that
agency's dealings with public officials. In response to a

guestion from Representative Johansen, she clarified that the
fine she referred to in the exanple had to do with disclosures,
and the Select Commttee on Legislative Ethics is asking for an
increase in that fine through a separate bill. She said that
when it cones to an issue regarding a conplaint that's filed
with the ethics conmttee, and the committee finds "probable
cause," it has the option under AS 24.60.178 to inpose a civil
penalty of not nore than $5,000 for each offense, or twi ce the
anount inproperly gained, whichever is greater. That section in
statute also allows the Select Comrmittee on Legislative Ethics
to nake a recommendation or take any appropriate neasures. So,
the rest of the sanctions that are recommended in the statute
really have to do with individuals who are still |egislators.

12: 08: 34 PM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 15- January 19, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE JOHANSEN i nterpreted Ms. Anderson as saying there
are "no teeth," but he said if a fine is $5,6000, for exanple, he
is going to pay attention to it.

M5. ANDERSON expl ained that the previous exanple was nore about
a disclosure than a conplaint. She continued:

|'"m just saying that the only nmeasure that seens to be
listed in the statute for a sanction would be ... the
dol | ar anmount, versus any other type of sanction. So,
there [are] still some teeth there, but | guess |I'm
just pointing out that once the ... decision of
probable cause is nade ... it is just strictly the
dol | ar anount.

M5. ANDERSON asked Representative Roses if he, as a nenber of
the Select Commttee on Legislative Ethics, wuld like to
expound on that issue.

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES replied that it's a matter of making the
dol l ar anount high enough that it is worth the Ofice of the
Attorney Ceneral's pursuit of the matter.

CHAIR LYNN said he is disturbed that the attorney general is not
pursuing the issue no matter the nonetary val ue.

12:11:56 PM

REPRESENTATI VE = COGHI LL, regar di ng havi ng a statute of
[imtations on the ethics issue, stated that the fact is once
soneone | eaves legislative service, there may be little "teeth"
i nvol ved; however, should that person choose to file again, then
there are teeth, because it becones "a huge character issue on
that particular individual."” He expressed concern regardi ng how
authority given by the legislature nmay be used. He asked M.
Anderson, "What should we anticipate as a commttee that was
worth keeping records for five years on?"

M5. ANDERSON offered an exanple wherein a |egislator |eaves
office at the end of 2008, and two years down the road it

becomes known that while he/she was still in office, legislation
had been proposed that directly benefitted that |egislator. A
conplaint could be filed against that |egislator. Ms. Anderson

said this would not create nore record keeping, but would nean
the commttee would be l|ooking at information that surfaced
after the term of the legislator that would have been in
violation of the Ethics Code. The Select Committee on

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 16- January 19, 2008



Legislative Ethics would be obligated to do an investigation and
make a recommendation if it found probable cause. In response
to a followup comment from Representative Coghill, M. Anderson
said if the conmttee found probable cause, the only option in
the Ethics Code currently would be a penalty of $5,000 or |ess.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL concl uded that the question is whether or
not the penalties are sufficient, because with the extended
statute of limtations, the accountability nmeasure woul d be kept
alive for a period of five years after public service ended.

MS. ANDERSON answered that's correct.

12:17: 52 PM

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES directed attention to page 3 of Version M
Section 6, lines 19-21, which read as foll ows:

(d) If a nmenber of the comm ssion or a nmenber of its
staff files a conplaint, that nenber of the conm ssion
or menber of its staff may not participate in any
proceedi ng  of the conmmssion relating to the
conpl ai nt.

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES asked if there are ever any conplaints
brought forth by APOC, or if the conplaints are brought only by
citizens outside the board.

M5. MLES replied that in the past, APOC staff nenbers have
filed conplaints; however, she offered her understanding that
t hat has not happened since the |ate '80s.

M5. ANDERSON, in response to a question from Representative
Roses, clarified that the statute related to the Select
Commttee on Legislative Ethics is a little bit different from
that of APOC. The ethics statute allows the committee to bring
forth a conplaint; the chair signs the conplaint on behalf of
the conmttee. A situation where the commttee initiates its
own conplaint, she explained, is when information beconmes known
to the commttee, but no conplaint has been fil ed.

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES stated that he wanted it clear on the
record that the limtation related to APOC, in which a conmmttee
menber is not allowed to sit in on the conplaint hearing if
he/she is the one to have brought the conplaint forward, has
nothing to do with the Select Commttee on Legislative Ethics.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -17- January 19, 2008



He added, "OQtherwise, if they brought it on behalf of the entire
commttee, there would be nobody there to hear the conplaint.”

M5. ANDERSON responded that's correct.

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES stated, "I just want to make sure that's on
the record that that's not the intent of this bill."

12: 20: 06 PM

CHAI R LYNN cl osed public testinony.

12:20: 15 PM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON said he would like to hear for the record
the definition of "person” found in Al aska Statute.

12:20: 28 PM

JANET DeYOUNG Chief Assistant Attorney General - Statew de
Section Supervisor, Labor and State Affairs Section, GCvil
Di vi sion (Anchor age), in response to a request from

Representative Johnson, provided the definition of "person" as
it appears in AS 01.10.060(a)(8), which read as foll ows:

(8) " person” i ncl udes a corporation, company,
partnership, firm association, organization, business
trust, or society, as well as a natural person;

12: 20: 45 PM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON asked, "Can you think of anything other
than a governnment entity in a state that would not be a person?”

M5. DEYOUNG responded, "I'm not even sure that a governnent
entity wouldn't be a person, to tell you the truth.”

CHAI R LYNN surm sed that the intent behind the discussion is to
decide if the commttee does not want a corporation to be able
to file a conplaint.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON clarified that his concern is that a
group or an individual may form a corporation, file a conplaint,
di sband, and di sappear.

12:21:49 PM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 18- January 19, 2008



CHAIR LYNN stated that he has concern regarding Section 5. He
suggested changing the |anguage to read: "a resident of the
state of Al aska."

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON pointed out that then it would be
necessary to know if the corporation was a resident. He stated
that he would |ike the language to specify "registered voter" -
sonmeone who has at |east enough vested interest in the state to
register and participate in the system - because he said he
t hinks that would serve the purpose of elimnating corporations
and partnerships.

CHAI R LYNN concurred, but questioned how to phrase that in the
bill.

12: 23: 35 PM

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL nmoved Anendnent 2, as foll ows:

On page 3, line 13:

Del ete "person”
I nsert "registered voter”

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON obj ected for discussion purposes. He
said he appreciates the offer of Amendnment 2, but wants first to

ensure that it would not |eave the word "person" elsewhere in
the bill.

12:25: 30 PM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON rmaintained his objection, reiterating
that he would Iike the anendnent to be conceptual .

12: 25: 40 PM

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL wi t hdrew Amendnent 2.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL noved to adopt [Conceptual] Anmendnent 3,
whi ch woul d replace the word "person" wherever it appears in the
bill with the words "registered voter".

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON obj ected for di scussion purposes.
REPRESENTATI VE ROSES suggested that the anendnment should specify

the change is to "person" as applies to a person filing a
conpl ai nt. He explained that there are other areas in the bill

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -19- January 19, 2008



where "person" applies to soneone who is on the board or serves
on the comm ssi on.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON remarked that he is not sure he wants
anyone serving on the conm ssion who is not a registered voter.

REPRESENTATI VE RCSES, in response to Chair Lynn, clarified that
he had not just noved to adopt an amendnent to Amendnent 3.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL objected to Amendnent 3. He highli ghted

the following in the bill: “any person" - on page 3, line 13;
"A person" - on page 3, line 23, and page 4, lines 15 and 25
and "Any person” - on page 5, line 4. He recommended that the

anendnent be drafted by Legislative Legal and Research Servi ces.

CHAIR LYNN said, "In other words, we know what we want to do,
[we're] just trying to figure out howto get there."

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON assert ed, "And that's why it was
conceptual was ny understanding."

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL stated, "If that's your intention on
those lines, then | will w thdraw ny objection.™

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON poi nted out that he had objected, and he
removed his objection to [Conceptual] Amendnent 3.

There being no further objection, [Conceptual] Anmendnent 3 was
adopt ed.

12: 28: 24 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL directed attention to page 2, Section 4,
whi ch read as foll ows:

*Sec. 4. AS 24.45.111(a) is anended to read:

(a) A person required to register or report as a
| obbyist or as a person who enploys, retains, or
contracts for the services of a |obbyist shal
preserve all accounts, bills, receipts, books, papers,
and docunents necessary to substantiate the reports
required to be made and filed under this chapter for a
period of at |east six years [ONE YEAR] from the date
of the filing of the report containing these itens.

REPRESENTATIVE COGHILL said he can understand requiring
| obbyi sts to keep records for six years, but questioned whether

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 20- January 19, 2008



it is necessary to require the same for those who retain
| obbyi st s.

VB. DEYOUNG responded that enpl oyers  of | obbyi sts are
account abl e presently under I aw; t hey file di scl osure
st atenents. [ Section 4 in the proposed |egislation] would, she
said, permt the enforcenent of those provisions in addition to
enforcenment of the |obbying reporting requirenents. She said

"The record-keeping requirenents facilitate the prosecution of
the requirenents for both enployers of |obbyists and a | obbyi st
hi nsel f." In response to a request for clarification from
Representative Coghill, she said, "The requirenent for record
keeping is new, but the obligation for the enployer or retainer
or contractor of a |obbyist to report is longstanding. So, that
under | yi ng di scl osure requirenent already exists."

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL said he was not aware of that.

12: 31: 46 PM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHANSEN directed attention to the second
paragraph on page 2 of a nenorandum from Al pheus Bullard of
Legislative Legal and Research Services, included in the
committee packet, which read:

Your draft serves to increase the statute of
limtations for t he filing of adm ni strative
conplaints with the Alaska Public Ofices Conmm ssion

Please be aware that these extended statutes of
[imtation for the filing of conplaints alleging
violations of AS 15.13 do not serve to anend the
existing law pertaining to crimnal prosecution of
related election |law viol ations.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHANSEN said it seens like M. Bullard is
telling the conmmttee that "these two things don't quite
conport." He asked for feedback.

12: 32: 41 PM

MR. SICA responded that Ms. Mles, M. Anderson, and M. Bullard
agree that "with the revisions in this Act now codifying in the
vari ous sections thenselves - everything from ... retention
schedules of six years to the statute of limtations for five
years - there's no longer a need for [AS] 15.56.130."

12: 33: 04 PM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -21- January 19, 2008



M5. M LES responded:

Yes, the conflict with [AS] 15.56 would no | onger
exist if we repealed that. ... Athough the
comm ssion may conduct an investigation that would
resolve in their referring their findings to the
Crim nal Di vi si on of t he Depar t ment of Law,
prosecution under canpaign msconduct, of course, is
not within the jurisdiction of the conmm ssion.

MR. M LES suggested the question be asked of M. DeYoung.

12: 33: 56 PM

M5. DeYOUNG stated her concern is that if AS 15.56.130 covers
other election violations, there would definitely be an inpact
if that provision is repealed. She said she would like the
opportunity for the Cimnal Dvision of the departnment to
consi der the issue.

12: 34: 24 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL said that particular issue belongs in the
House Judiciary Standing Conmttee. He recomended that the
committee refrain fromdel eting any | anguage as yet.

12: 34: 52 PM

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES echoed that sentinent, suggesting that the
House State Affairs Standing Commttee send a note along wth
the bill, asking the House Judiciary Standing Conmttee to take
a close ook at this particular provision to determ ne whether
or not it should be repeal ed.

12: 35: 08 PM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON stated his intent to "keep a real tight
handl e on the noney." He asked if the fiscal note is noney that
is included in the governor's proposed budget.

M5. M LES answered no.

12: 35: 53 PM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON said it seens that the Select Conmittee
on Legislative Ethics, to a certain extent, and the Al aska

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -22- January 19, 2008



Public Ofices Commi ssion have becone judge, jury, and hangnan,
wi thout the oversight. He said he is unconfortable with putting
too much power in one place, wthout sone type of check and
bal ance systemin pl ace.

12: 38: 35 PM

CHAIR LYNN said he would ensure that this issue is addressed
when the House Judiciary Standing Commttee hears the bill, as
three of the legislators on the House State Affairs Standing
Commttee also serve on the House Judiciary Standing Comm ttee,
i ncl udi ng hinmsel f.

12: 39: 04 PM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHANSEN stated that as a nenber of the [House
Adm ni stration Finance Subcommttee], he wll track the fiscal
notes for HB 281.

12: 39: 42 PM

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES noved to report CSHB 281, Version 25-
LS1115\M Bullard, 1/18/08, as anended, out of commttee wth
i ndi vidual recomrendations and the acconpanying fiscal notes.
There being no objection, CSHB 281(STA) was reported out of the
House State Affairs Standing Conmittee.

The commttee took an at-ease from 12:40:20 PMto 12:43: 23 PM

HB 260- STATE OFFI CERS COVPENSATI ON COW SSI ON

12:43:26 PM

CHAI R LYNN announced that the last order of business was HOUSE
BILL NO. 260, "An Act relating to a State O ficers Conpensation
Comm ssion and establishing how |egislators, the governor, the
| i eutenant governor, and executive departnent heads shall be
conpensated; providing for an effective date by repealing the
effective dates of certain sections of ch. 124, SLA 1986; and
providing for an effective date."

[ Arendnent 1 was pending before the conmmttee wth an
obj ection.]

12: 43: 50 PM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -23- January 19, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE M KE DOOGAN, Al aska State Legislature, reviewed
the bill, which he had introduced at the last comrttee neeting
on Thursday, January 17, 2008. He said the proposed |egislation
attenpts to recreate a salary conmssion simlar to the one that
exi sted at the end of the 1970s. The conm ssion woul d consi st
of five nenbers [appointed by the governor], with one of those
menbers chosen froma |ist provided by the Speaker of the House
and one chosen from a list provided by the President of the
Senat e. The conm ssion would nake recomendations at |east
every two years regarding the salaries of the governor,
| i eutenant governor, |egislature, and conm ssioners of the State
of Al aska, and those recomendati ons would becone |law within 60
days unless specifically rejected by the |egislature. The
recommendati ons woul d be subject to appropriations.

12: 46: 12 PM

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES, at the request of the chair, reviewed
Amendnent 1, which read as foll ows:

Page 3, line 18, following "not":
Insert ", in the four years preceeding [sic] that
nmenber' s appoi nt nent, "

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES explained that the anendnent would not
disallow former |egislators or comm ssioners from serving. He
said he felt it is inportant to allow people to serve who know
t he background of the jobs they are review ng.

12: 47: 23 PM

REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN said his intent was to prevent criticism
of t he conmi Ssi on for "hel pi ng out their friends."
Not wi t hst andi ng that, he said he does not object to Amendnent 1,
because four year's tine seens appropriate for anyone who has
been invol ved to have been out of office.

12:48: 03 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL renoved his objection to Amendnent 1.
There being no further objection, Amendnent 1 was adopt ed.

12:48: 37 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHILL directed attention to | anguage on page 3,
beginning on line 23, which defines the duties of the
conm ssion, and he asked if there is a reason why the sponsor

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 24- January 19, 2008



chose to have the administration only in the review process and
"not include sone staff support, since we're the ones
instituting this."

12: 49: 22 PM

REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN answered that his choice was sinply a
matter of keeping the | egislature at arm s-1ength.

12:49: 50 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL poi nted out that executive branch nenbers
are in the equation, t oo; t her ef ore, the arms-length
consi deration is one-sided.

REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN said Representative Coghill is absolutely
right. He explained that the arm s-length arrangenent in this
case is based on the history of the past salary conm ssion,
where the problems have all been related to |egislative
conpensati on.

12: 50: 40 PM

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES directed attention to page 3, lines 23-25,
whi ch read:

Sec. 39.23.530. Staff. The director of personnel in
the Departnent of Admnistration shall serve as ex
officio secretary to the conmission and provide
research, technical, and adm nistrative services.

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES pointed out that an ex officio nenber does
not get to vote; therefore, the staff would not be in a
deci si on- maki ng position.

REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN confirmed that it is not his intent that
the Commi ssioner of the Departrment of Administration or his/her
desi gnee woul d be a voting nenber on the salary comm ssion.

12:51: 43 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL turned to page 4, line 5, which proposes:
"The comm ssion shall prepare its prelimnary findings and
recommendations for the conpensation of state officers by
Novenber 15." He asked Representative Doogan if this would be
done annual | y.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 25- January 19, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN responded that the recommendation would
need to be nade every two years.

12:52: 35 PM

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES, regarding the Novenber 15 date, observed
t hat anot her section  of the bill proposes that t he
recommendati on of the conm ssion would automatically take effect
in 60 days, unless the legislature rejects it. He said, "Well,
60 days from Novenmber 15 would put us into January 15, and that
woul d be the day we usually gavel in, if our 90-day session date

that we have remains ... the sane. So, we'd have to have a
special session in order to act on it if ... indeed the 60 days
ki cked in."

REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN expl ai ned that Novenber 15 would be the
date for prelimnary findings, wth the assunption that there
would then be tinme for public comment and other activity before
the comm ssion conpleted its report and handed it over to the
| egi sl ature. He said the timng is intended to ensure the
recommendations are given to the legislature "and there are 60
days. "

12:53: 37 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL noted that the |anguage [in subsection
(d)], on page 4, proposes that the comm ssion wll submt its
findings and recommendations during the first 10 days of a
| egi sl ative session. He surm sed that the |anguage requiring
the comm ssion to "give reasonable public notice" [on page 4,
line 7], refers to reasonable accomodation, not reasonable
time.

REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN said that's correct.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL directed attention to the phrase, "a bill
di sapproving all the recommendations", one page 4, line 15, and
he offered his wunderstanding that the Ilegislature can only
reject through a resolution. He indicated that that is the case
concerning the constitution. He asked Representative Doogan if
he has consi dered that.

REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN replied that he had not. He conmitted to
sorting that issue out before the bill |eaves the next commttee
of referral, which is the House Finance Comm ttee.

12:56: 14 PM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 26- January 19, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL directed attention to page 4, lines 24-
25, which read:

(e) The commission may prepare anendnents to the
report submtted under (d) of this section and notify
the |l egislature that the anendnents are avail abl e.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL asked Representative Doogan how he
envi si ons that process worKking.

REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN answer ed:

The amendnment portion is intended to take care of a
situation in which the commission has made a final
report and subsequently finds out that it nmade a big
m st ake. ... It's sinply to give them a nechanismto
fix that while the  bill is still before the
| egislature, so that, essentially, the final product
is not flawed.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL said he agrees with that; however, he
said that through his years of service with the legislature, he
has found that "every door that lets something in, also lets
sonet hing out." He asked the sponsor to ponder possible areas
of m suse.

12: 58: 19 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL noved on to page 5, lines 15-17, which
read as foll ows:

Sec. 39.23.560. Policy of the legislature. It is
the policy of the legislature that the conm ssion
recommend an equitable rate and form of conpensati on,
benefits, and all owances for |egislators.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL said that was the original intent of the
first comm ssion. He asked Representative Doogan if he intends
to leave it to the conm ssion to decide what equitable neans.

REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN answered yes. He said he thought it
important to have a statenent in HB 260 describing the intent of
the legislature in establishing the comm ssion.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL drew focus to page 6, lines 19-21, which
read as foll ows:

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -27- January 19, 2008



(b) If the first recommendations submtted by the
State O ficers Conpensation Comm ssion under (a) of
this section are disapproved or are not fully funded,
the conmi ssion may continue to submt recomendations
under (a) of this section until secs. 1-5 of the Act
take effect.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL st at ed, "Because of the anmendnent
capacity and the recommendation capacity, now we have sonebody
knocki ng at the door, kind of in perpetuity.” He asked the bill
sponsor if that was his intent.

REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN answered yes. He explained, "The failure
of the previous nethod is that it stopped.™

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL observed that the legislature could be
forced with the same question on a regul ar basis. He said, "
guess we'll just leave that to reasonable people. And you're
expectation is that they would have that capacity."”

REPRESENTATI VE DOOGAN responded that it is his fervent hope that
the governor wll appoint reasonable people who wll take
reasonabl e positions. |If that proves not to be true, he stated,
the ultimate authority continues to rest with the |egislature,
because it can always repeal a law, if fitting to do so.

1: 01: 09 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL said he would look into his previous
concern regarding whether the rejection of the |egislature would
need to be by resolution or by bill.

1:01: 25 PM
REPRESENTATI VE JOHANSEN said the crux of the problemis that the

| egislature is reluctant to set new salaries because of
perception, and a conmission would force the issue every two

years. He concluded, "I think the concept is ... well."

1: 02: 06 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHILL noved to report HB 260, as anended, out
of committee W th i ndi vi dual recommendat i ons and t he
acconpanying fiscal notes. There being no objection, CSHB

281(STA) was reported out of the House State Affairs Standing
Conmi ttee.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -28- January 19, 2008



1: 02: 52 PM

REPRESENTATI VE LYNN revi ewed the comrittee schedul e for Tuesday,
January 22, 2008.

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON said he is keeping a running total of the
amount of dollars sent out of conmttee through fiscal notes.

ADJ OURNNMENT
There being no further business before the commttee, the House

State Affairs Standing Committee neeting was adjourned at
1:04: 14 PM

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -29- January 19, 2008



